
 

 

April 18, 2012 
 
Will Cipes 
Thomas Safran & Associates 
11812 San Vicente Boulevard, Suite 600 
Los Angeles, CA 90049 
 
Subject: 304 Obispo Avenue, Long Beach 
 
Dear Mr. Cipes: 
 
This letter was prepared in response to a request from Thomas Safran & Associates for a 
due diligence report on the single-family residence located at 304 Obispo Avenue in 
the City of Long Beach. In preparing the report the following tasks were performed: 
 

• Researched pertinent registries and databases to determine if the building is 
currently designated or has been previously evaluated for designation at the 
local, state, or federal levels; 

 
• Reviewed the building’s permit history to determine date of construction, major 

alterations, and the name(s) of original owners, architects, and builders; 
 

• Conducted online research to determine the building’s potential significance; 
 

• Conducted a site inspection to determine the building’s physical integrity and/or 
significant features. 

 
Following is the results of these efforts. 
 
Previous Evaluations: 
 
The building appears to be a contributor to the Bluff Heights Historic District, a local 
historic district within the City of Long Beach. Research did not reveal any indication of 
any other previous evaluations of the property for individual significance at the local, 
state, or federal levels (Bluff Heights Historic District Ordinance with map of contributing 
buildings attached for review). 
 
Research Summary: 
 
304 Obispo Avenue was constructed circa 1920, according to the Los Angeles County 
Assessor. The single-family residence is one story in height and Craftsman in style. It is 
one of many Craftsman residences in a largely residential neighborhood. No original 
building permits exist, so the exact date of construction, architect/builder (if any), and 
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original owner could not be identified. Later building permits include plumbing and 
heating work (1932 and 1975), construction of a fireplace (1975), and installation of 3 
aluminum windows (1977). The owner’s name on the 1932 permit is illegible. The owner 
listed on the permits from the 1970s is Robert F. Wilson (permits attached for review). 
 
A review of historic Sanborn Fire Insurance maps for the City of Long Beach indicates 
that the property had an auxiliary building located to the main building’s southeast. It 
was demolished sometime after 1950. Another auxiliary building was later constructed 
at an unknown date to the east of the main building along the alley. Other 
undocumented changes to the property were evident during the site inspection 
conducted on April 13, 2012. These include the application of textured stucco to the 
porch piers and secondary elevations, replacement of additional wood windows with 
aluminum and vinyl window, and installation of concrete paving in the back yard.  
 
As the only indentified owner of the property, Robert F. Wilson was researched using 
online sources, such as the Los Angeles Times, California Index, and Ancestry.com. The 
research revealed no evidence to suggest that Mr. Wilson was significant under any 
context. Additionally, the address was researched using similar online sources. This 
research revealed no evidence to suggest that any significant events took place on 
the property or that it was individually significant as part of a historic pattern or trend. As 
such, the property’s only known significance is as a contributor to the local Bluff Heights 
Historic District (Bluff Heights Historic District Ordinance attached for review).  
 
Site Inspection Summary: 
 
The building retains its original form and massing. It retains some of its original materials, 
but many have been replaced. Non-original materials include: textured stucco on the 
south, east, and north elevations; aluminum sliding windows; and vinyl double-hung 
windows. While the building’s existing entry doors are wood, which would have been 
the material of the original doors, the doors themselves are all non-original 
replacements. Changes to the property as a whole include paving of most of the back 
yard, demolition of the original auxiliary building, and construction of another auxiliary 
building. These changes have negatively impacted the building’s historic integrity 
(photos attached for review). 
 
Conclusions: 
 
It does not appear that 304 Obispo Avenue has been determined eligible for individual 
listing in the local, state, or federal registers by any previous evaluations. Research for 
this report revealed no significant information about the building or its previous owners.1 
The site inspection demonstrated that the building is a typical example of a small single-
family residence from the 1920s, designed in the Craftsman style. It is not a distinctive or 
unique example of its style, type, or period, and it has experienced several alterations 
over time. Therefore, due to a lack of historic significance, architectural significance, 

                                                 
1 Research for this due diligence report was limited to a physical site inspection and online research, which 
included permit research and newspaper and index searches. If further study of the building is required, 
additional research, such as city directory searches, should be conducted.  
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and physical integrity, the building does not appear to be individually eligible for listing 
in the National or California Registers. The City of Long Beach has broader designation 
criteria than the National and California Register programs; however, the subject 
building does not appear eligible for individual listing as a local landmark under any of 
the City’s criteria.2 
 
Regardless of its lack of individual significance and integrity, 304 Obispo Avenue is a 
contributor to the City of Long Beach’s Bluff Heights Historic District. The district, 
including its contributing buildings and features, is a historic resource subject to CEQA. 
The proposed project includes two options for 304 Obispo Avenue: demolition or 
relocation. The district’s ordinance does not expressly prohibit demolition of contributing 
buildings; however, because the building is a contributor to the local district, its 
demolition has the potential to impact the historic resource.  
 
The key question is whether or not the demolition of the building constitutes a 
substantial adverse change. A substantial adverse change is one that reduces a 
historic resource’s integrity to the degree that its ability to convey its significance is 
impaired or lost. Removing a modest, altered building from a large historic district is not 
likely to be considered a substantial adverse change as the majority of the district 
would remain intact, but this is ultimately up to the lead agency, and a more detailed 
study of the district, as well as a full impacts analysis, would be necessary to arrive at an 
accurate conclusion. Relocating the building could mitigate the potential impact to 
the resource only if it were relocated to another vacant lot within the boundary of the 
Bluff Heights District. It is otherwise not a relevant mitigation measure for a district 
contributor.   
 
Thank you for your consideration of this report.  Please feel free to contact me with 
questions by telephone at (310) 792-2690 or by e-mail at laura@galvinpreservation.com.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Laura Vanaskie O’Neill 
Associate Architectural Historian 
 
Attachments: Bluff Heights Historic District Ordinance, building permit records, site visit 
photos 
 

                                                 
2 This due diligence report presents preliminary findings only. If further study is required, a more detailed 
analysis of the building against the national, state, and local criteria should be conducted. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Bluff Heights Historic District Ordinance 

 



















 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Permit Records for 304 Obispo Avenue 

 











 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Photographs 

 
 
 



 

 

 
West Elevation Looking East 

 

 
Detail of Front Porch Looking East 



 

 

 
North and West Elevations Looking Southeast 

 

 
South and West Elevations Looking Northeast 



 

 

 
East Elevation Looking West 

 

 
Detail of Wood Windows on South Elevation 



 

 

 
Detail of Aluminum Window on South Elevation 

 

 
Auxiliary Building, West Elevation Looking East 

 


